Statement of Shawn Darrell Richard

. Shawn Darrell Richard, of Unit 1. 100 Bower Street. Manly NSW 2095 say as follows:

1. Attached and marked "A" is a Statement of Facts relating to the offences to which |
admit.

2. | have read and understand the facts which are asserted in the document marked
NAH'

3. I 'admit the fruth of the facts asserted in the document marked “A"

4. | understand that the Statement of Facts marked "A” will be tendered by the Crown as

the factual basis relied upon to establish my guilt in respect of the offences againsi
s1041G of the Corporations Act 2001 appearing in the document marked *A” and as
the basis for my admitting the offence against s1041E of the Corporations Act 2001
also appearing in the document marked “A".

5. | understand that a court attendance notice will be filed in the Local Court of New
South Wales containing the three charges referred to in the document marked "B". | also
understand that in the Local Court of New South Wales. in reiation to the charge against
s1041E of the Corporations Act 2001, a certificate pursuant tc s166 of the Criminal
Procedure Act 1986 (NSW) will be filed identifying that charge as & related matter and
that upen my arraignment for sentence in a superior court on the two charges against
s1041G of the Corporations Act 2001, the charge against s1041E will be placed on a
schedule pursuant to s16BA of the Crimes Act 19174.

8. The charges against s1041G of the Corporations Act 2001 identified in the
document marked "B" are the charges to which i intend pleading guilty in the Local Court of
New South Wales and upon arraignment in a superior court. The charge againsi s1041E
of the Corporations Act 2001 identified in the document marked "B is the charge which i
intend to admit in the Local Court of New South Wales which will be placed on a schedule
pursuant to s 16BA of the Crirnes Act 1914 upon my arraignment in a superior court.

7. | make these admissions having received legal advice.

8. | understand the consequences of making these admissions and that they cari be
tendered as evidence against me.

g. | have executed this document and made these admissions freely and voluntariiy

and acknowledge that no inducement has been held out to me to execute it or to make
these agmissions.

Shawn Darrel! Richard Witness

Dated:



MAT
SHAWN DARRELL RICHARD
STATEMENT OF FACTS

NOTE:
A summuary of the Key Entitics appears behind 1ab 1.

All references o dollar [igures in the Staternent of Facts are references 10 Australian
dollars unless indicated otherwise,

OVERVIEW
1. At all relevant imes;

a.  Shawn Darrell Richard ("Richard™) was carrying on @ financial services
business. He did this in 2 number of differen: capaciies, numelv as:

f1) adirector ol Astarra Asset Management Pte Lid ("AAM"). an

authorised representative of Wright Giobal investments Ptv Lid

("WGL") and Trie Capital Ltd ("Trie"

fi) a direcior or officer of Astaira Funds Management Py Lid ("AFM"),
Trio and WGL

(111} 2 responsible officer for Trio and WGH:

(iv) au agent for Trio. and

(v} the investmeni manager of the Astarra Strategic Fund ("ASF™).

b.  Incarrying out his duties mn respect 1o the capactiies specified in fa) above,
ving & I P :
Richard acted under the ultimate contro! and instruction of Jack W Flader
("Flader"). a US citizen based in Hong Kong.

¢. Inorder o facilitate the Scheme defined in paragraph 2 below, Richard
represented himsell 1o investors ay being the coniroller of Tric, WG and
AAM. in circumstances where Richard was awarc that these representations
were false in that Flader was the ultimate controller of these entities.

)

From July 2004 onwards. Richard knowingly put into elfeet Fiader's
mstruciions relating 1o the operation of a scheme ("the Scheme") vwhereh
Richard used his positons in respect 10 AAM. Trio. WGI and AFM. o arrange
the transier of Australian invesiors' manies from managed invesimeni schemes
and superamniuation funds (collectivels the "Trio Managed Funds”) for which
1o was the responsible entity or trustee. respectivelv. to overseas {unds
controlled by Flader. namely:

Exploration Fund Ltd ("Expleration Fund" -

Pacific Capital Multi-Arbitrage Fund Ltd ("Pacific Fund” ;;

SBS Dynanmiic Opportunities Fund Lirnited ('SBS Fund” ). and
Sierra Mulu-Stratepr Fond Ltd ("Sierra Fund”).

teoliectivety the " Flader Controlled Funds" :
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in arder to purchase shares in US companics ("US Shares™) from furergu
companies controlied by Ilader ("Flader Vendor Companies” ). at prices
which realised significant profits for ihe Flader Vendor C OMPUnies

3. Inlurtherance of the Scheme. AAM received over $3.3 million from the
operation ol the Scheme and Richard received over $1.5 million in navments for
parucipating in the Scheme. The pm'mcm'q to Richard were in addition te his
disclesed net annual salary of $113.426 paid to kim by AFM.

Te date, the hiquidators of ASF have heen unable to recover any of the Trio
Managed Funds that were invested with the Flader Controled Funds.

4

Investment in Flader Controlled Funds

5. Atall relevant times the only monies invested into the Flader Controlied Funds
were mopics sourced from the Trio \lanw ed Funds. with the exception of 1wo
investors whe madv a dircet inviestment inte the Fxploration Fund threugh
Richard. namely Australasian Conierence Association Superannuation 7rust -
Australia ("AC AST" i and the Auvstralian Baseball Federation Inc.

0. The prices of the US Shares purchased by the Flader Controlled Funds were
quoied on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board ("OTCBB™ or 'Pink. Sheets'
which are both electrenic quotation systems for some unreaulated 118 equity
securities noi listed on the NASDAQ stock exchange or a nammul scourities
cxchange.

/. Shures traded in such markets as OTCBR and Pink Sheets are usually thiniy
traded microcap stocks and are generally avoided by both retail and institutional
mvestors. These share prices have the poteniial to be easily manipulated and
there ex1sts a potential jor fraud.

8. The US Shares purchased by the Flader Controlled Funds were ofien restricted
stock. Restricied stock is not tully transferrable until cerwin conditions have
been satistied and as a consequence it tvpically sells at a discount from the
miarket tor unresiricted siock.

Loans from Flader Controlled Fumds

9. Infurtherance of the Scheme @ large portion of the nrofits realised from the
sales i the US Shares by the Flader Veador Companies 1 the Flader
Controlled Funds was used to fund the businesses of Trio. WG AFM and
AAML By way of foans [rom cther companies conwrelicd by Flader (che
"Funding Companies™.

T, Fichard was avare that the monic s betng loaned o Trio, WGEH AFM and AAM
by the Fundmg € E'ﬂli'i'}""dﬂi;‘.‘u '..(’UIPT‘S\;d part of the monies that had been invested
by the Trio Managed Funds inio the Flader Controlied Funds,
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Richurd '~ malh.mm ¢ conduet and nep-disciosures o jnvestors, Trio. ANM, WG
AR and ASH

i1 Inhis dealings with the auditors o7 Tric, WGL AFM and AAM. Richard also
fatsely rcprcscmcd that he cnni"niicd the bunding Companies loaning the
monics to Trio, WL AFM and AAM. iu circumstances where he vwos avare
that these companies were ;mu.m”;; conmolled by Flader,

12, Atnorelevant ume did Richard disclese w investors in the Trio M 1aged Funas
or to Tric. the nature of his relationst vip with Flader. the existence of the
Scheme. that he was personally benefiting trom the eperation of the Schene or
that he was operating o personal bank account in Liechienstein in order to
receive personal payments irom the operation of the Schemes and 1o avoid
disciosure te these parties. Some of the pavmenis received o Richard's
averseas bank account were subseguentiy used in furtherance of the Scheme.

15, When engaging in il correspondence concerning:
a. dealings in shares involving the Flader Y endor Companices. and

b, the Flader Conwvolled Fands,

Richard used email addresses thai were not connected with Trio. WGL A7
and AAM. mncluding the email address shawny ackincom ("Fkit Aﬁdrus:s ) aindd
shav_richard ¢:hotmail.com ("Hotmail Address”) in order to svoid diselosure
vi this correspordence ironi these eniities.

4. Purthermore, following concerns ratsed by i rio's investment commitee about
the Tric Maunaged Funds' exposure tnarulnmmxr Fiader Controlled Fond. the
Expioration ¥ uud_ and @ subscquem ban in August 2006 placed by that
committee upon further invesmient in the Exploration Fund. Richard
participated 1n tie creation of 3 new funds. namely SES Fund. Sicirs Fond and
the Pacific Fund (coliectively "the New Funds™) all of which were also
controdied by Flade

Y30 In durtherance of the Scheme. from November 2006 onwards, Richand mished
Trie's investment commuttec and ASE investars in respeci to the nature of the
invesimenis belng miade on behall' of ASF by represeniing that he was
fiversiiving the ASTs Invesiment portiolio b arranging for ASE to obtair
financial CYPOSUIT L dre New Funds which he represented were unider the
control ol difierent investment matagers. in circumsianees where he wis aware
that. like the Exploration Fund. the New Funds were all controlled by Flader
and thiey all held US Shares. derivatives. forcign exchange agreements und 1ixed
imterest invesiments purchused through w_alm-_.u- with Flader related cornp

.’,
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o Slao. betweeen at least .";]"‘('i; 2007 10 S Ktoer 2009 Richiard we veoaveare that the
assets held by the Plader Controlled Funas. fn particuiur the Exploraion Fund.
were ithiguid '. of questionable vaiue ond that 11 was nece SAry for noese monics

from AN 10 be made available inorder tor the Bxplovation Fund 1o mect
redet lp‘!h}i'l reguesis,



17, Despiie Richard's knowledge of both the asset composition and the illiguidiv: of
the assets held hy the Flader Corurelied Funds. which were of questionablc
value. in furtherance of the Scheme Richard:

a. arranged the transfer ot new monies from the ASF inte the New Tunds.
knowing that some of these monies were going io be used 1o enabie the
Exploration Fund to meet its ouistanding redemption reguesis: and

P, arrunged tor the ASH to purchase shares m the Exnloration Fund directly
trom a party who wanted to redeem their investment from that fund.

18.  Richard also knew thai & substantial portion of the value of the Flader
Controlled Funds was attributable 1o the derivatives. foreign exchange
agreements and fixed interest investmenis teallzctively referred to as "Non-
equity Investments") held by the tunds and that some of these counterpartices to
these financial instruments were Flader Vendor Companies or another of the
Flader Controlled Funds.

19, AAM and Richard did not teke any steps to verify whether the financial

instruments setting up these Non-equity Investments had ever been execuied of

whether the counterpariies w these instruments had the financial capacity o

honour their obligations ii called upon.

20, Furthermore. Richard knew that the administrators for the Flader Conire led
Funds were also under Flader's control and he also knew that ai no time were
the assets held by these funds independently valued.

21 Asaresult of Richard's awareness of the operation of the Scheme. the illiquidity
of the Flader Controlted Funds and the related party wransactions berween Flader
Vendor Companies and the Flader Controlied Funds. Richard knew. from at
least 10 April 2007, that the vaivations of the Flader Comirolled Funds provided
te Trio were materially mizleading.

22, Furthermore. Richard made maierialls misleading statements about AAM's
procedures employed in respect to the ASF in the allocation of asseis. selection
of underlying invesiment menagers and the conduet of due diligence and
mopttoring. in circumstances where he knew these procedures were 1ol carried
oul,

ASE investment Structure

23, From 15 February 2006, ASF purchased finamcial exposure o oilshore based
funds by investing in deferred purchase agreenients CDPAS" with Fa AL o
spevtal purpose vehicle incorporated in the British Virgm [slands speciiiealls

for the purpose oi eatering io DPAS with ASE.

24 The ASE made investments with EMA vie agreomenns tided Master Detorred
Purchuse Agrcement ("Master DPA") and Supplemental Dejerred Purchase
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Agreements ("Supplemental DPA<™). Trio obiained independent projessional
advice In respect 1o the investment siructure.

Each Supplementa! DP A was prepared by and exceuted by AAM and thern sen
to FMA for execution.

Lach Supplemental DP A ideniificd tive undertying asset (the "Reference
Asset" s that ASE was purchasing & {inancial exposure w and the dollar amount
of that exposure. In practical terms, the Relerence Asset and cxposure for each
Supplemental DPA was recorded as shares in an identified underlying tund for
@ supuiated wtal purchasce price. where the total purchase price was the amouni
of ASF monies being invested under that particular Supplementd DP A,

Under the ASF investment structure. in accordancr with independent
professional advice. ASE did not obtain s legal entitlement 1o the Reference
Asset named in the Supplemental DPAs. instead AAM as investment manaser
ol ASF and agent for Trio obtained a contraciual right to require EMA to
deliver the Delivery Asset' tdefined s units in a Trie managed invesimeni
scheme that had AAM as investment manager and cesentially the same mandate
as the ASFj upon completion of cach individual Suppicmental DP A contract.

The value of the Delivery Asset was 10 be determined by the value of the
Reference Assetl. which in turn was 10 be caleulated by reierence 1o the cate tha
AAM notitied EMA thai 1t wanted to comiplete a specific Supplemental DPA
coniract.

After execution of @ Supplemental DPA. Trio instructed the relevani custodian
ror the ASF 10 transfer funds into an account in the name of ENA hield with
Standard Chartered Bank in Hong Kong ("EMA's Bank Aceount”).

Before the Master DPA wos executed. between © September 2005 (ihe date tha
ASF was registered) and 15 February 2000 (the date the Master DPA was
exeeuted). Trie had made invesiments on behalf of the ASH by directh
purchasing units in the underlying funds, on the instructions o7 Richard with the
approvai of Tric.

There were no audited accoumis ever prepared ior EMA. Dirall audited accounts

of EMA for the period 2 Junuary 2006 until 30 June 2000 vere prepared b a
fong Kong pased accounting firm but this audit was no: compicted.

Prior to about 1 June 2006 EMA's administraiion services. including custodial

Z:tland Financial Greup Lid. At that time Flader held 2 senior managewen:
position with this company und vrerzans the manavement of EMA's aliairs,

Adter about 1 June 2006 Flader ceased 1 be eowploved by Zeiland Financial
Crroup Ld and he then established Global Consultanis and Serviees Lid
("GOSL"). Atter GCSL's incorporation it then wol over responsibility tor

PRIAS administration services. ncluding cusiodial services and the operation of

= or
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EMA' Bank Account,

(GCSL s a subsidiary ef the GUSL Group of Companics Lid (which together
with its other subsidiaries 1s referred 1o as the "GCSL Group™).

The GCSI Group 15 in the business of creating international corporate
structures and has offices in Hong kong. Anguilla. Belize. Cool Islands.
Samou. Shanghai and Sigapore. The GCSL Grouy provides a range of
services including the incorporation of companics. company secretarial
services, fiduciary services and administration services,

At all relevant times Flader was the Chie! Executive officer and Chairman of
the GCSL Group.

Investment m Underlving Funds

38.

34

Upoen receipt of the monies irom ASF. EM4 purchased shares in the underlying
funds. being the Reierence Assets identified in the Suppiemental DPAs. and
Richard was aware of this.

The underlving funds that EMA purchased shares in were:

4. Raploration Fund. a [und domiciled in Si Lucia:

b. SBS Fund, a fund domiciled in tie Cayvman Islands:

c. Pacific Fund. o fund domiciled in the Cavman Islands:

[

Sierra Fund. & fund domiciled in Anguilla

¢. Atlantis Capitai Markets Cayman LDC. 2 fund domiciied in the Cavman
Isiands. and

ity

Tailwind Invesiment Fond Lid. a fund doemiciled o the Cayman Islands.

As previously indicaied. the funds referred w in the above subparagraphs (a) (o
(dy inclusive are colleciively reierred 10 as the "Flader Controlled Funds”.

Out nf'the 532,005,494 oi ASF moaies invested directly o upderlyving funds
by EMA (excluding an in-specic transter of Ixploration Fund shares to the
value 07 535,036,480 from other Trio Managed Funds into ASF which occurred
on 30 June 2006) 845 473494 (§6.4%) was invested into the Flader Controlled
Funds

Flader and Richiard botl participuied in the creation of the Flader Conralled
Funds.

The ctfenng wiemorandum 1oi each of the Exploration Fund. Pacific Fund and />~
SBN Fund were all drafied with Richard s direction in furthorance of the

Fage & of 32
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38.

49,

Scheme.

Atali relevant times the GCSL Group was the custodian of the assets of the
Flader Controlled Funds.

At all relevant times the Flader Contrelled Funds were contralled by Flader. and
the fund direciors. investment managers and administrators abi acted under
Flader's instruction.

(ke Lxploration Fund was established as an exclusive investment vehicic for
the Trio Managed Funds.

The only parties who ever made investments i the Bxploration Fund were
EMA the Trie Managed Funds (including the ASF) and two other entiijes,
namely the Australian Baseball Federation Inc and ACAST,

Between July 2004 and October 2006 Trio Managed Fuads invested
. - - . . . ™ - c
(8520.326.6817 in Exploration Fund shares. This sum included $10.875.494 of

ASF monies that was invested by EMA in relation to S Supplemental DI'As
berween March 2006 and Octaher 2006,

From 1 November 2006 until 30 September 2009. on Richard's direction. ASF
monies were sent 1 EMA in accordance with Supplemental DPAs as follows:

. 9 dSupplemental DP As, with the Reference Asset being Sierra Fund shares,
10 a wtai value of $7.4 million-

b. 14 Supplemental DPAs. with the Reference Assct being shares in Pacific
Capital Markets Cavman LDC. 1o a total value i $14.2 milfion. and

¢. 15 Supplemental DPAs. wiih the Reference Asset being SBS Fund shares.
to a total valuc of $13.3 million.

Pacific Capital Markets Cayman 1.DC is a Cavman Islands conipany that is 2
difierent ertity to the Paciiic Fund and never raded. Despite the 14

Supplemental DPAs which namied shares in Pacific Capital Markets Cavinan
LDC as the Reterence Asset. the $14.2 million previded 1o EMA under these
Supplemental DPAs was instead used to purchase shares in the Pacific Fund.

The only party that ever made investments into the Sierra Fund. Pacific Fund or
SBS Fund was EMA using AST momnies.

On around 27 August 2009, AAM requested that £MA change the Reference
Asset in © Supplemental DPAs by substituting Sierva Tund shares (with an
erigingl purchase price of 57.4 million) for Exploration Fund shares. pursoant 1o
a Supplemental DPA dated 27 Sugusi 2009,

On 1 September 2004 the adminizrator for the Exploration Fund condirmed

("\r) '

receipt of STURSL.739 from EMA and the issuc of 37,112 Exploration Fund

- i . o . [ - - [ s
shares valued at 27974 ner unit theing of equivadent value). This total amoupt /
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represented the bnternally recorded value of the Sierrs Fund shares held by
£MA as an that daie.

th

There were never audited accounts prepared for any of the Flader Controlied
Funds. An accountant based in the US was engaged 10 prepare andited accourns
for the Exploration Fund for the vear ended 31 December 2008 but thesc
accounts ware never finalised.

CHARGENQ. 1: DISHONEST CONDUCT

S.1041G(1) OF THE CORPORATION ACT 2001 (CTH)

In contraveniion ol subsection 1041G(1) of the Cor poraiions der 2000 (Cih
("Ceorporations Act") Richard in the course of ¢ arrying on a financial services
business in Svdney. engaged in the dishonest conduct detailed in cxrcummanccs ‘A
and "B’ below. where he arranged for over $16.2 million of ASE and Astarra
Superannuation Plan menics to be invested into Flader Controlled Funds in -
circurnstances where AAM then received payvments of over $5.3 miltion to fund
AAM's ongoing business in lurtherance of the Scheme and Rn.hard recerved

payments of over §1.3 mitlion. To date. the liquidators of ASF have been unable to
ecever any of the ASE and Astarra Superannuation Plan monics invested into the
Flader Controlled Funds.

CHARGE NO.1: CIRCUMSTANCE 'A"

in furtherance of the Scheme. on 13 Nevember 20035 Richard. as agent for Trio and

a director of AAM. the investment manuger of ASF. provided a financial service in
that he arranged for ASF 10 deal in a financial product by applying for shares in the
L.«mlormon Fund 1o the value of £3 million, Also. on 18 Novermber 2005, Richard as
acveni lor Trio and as a director of WGL the invesiment manager of Astarra
_\upurannu.anun Plan. provided a financial service in that he arranged for Astarra
Supcrannuation Plan 1o deal in o financial product by applving for shares in the
Exploratiors Fund to the value 0 $3.559 million. in relation to these financial sen ices
provided by Richard. he engaged in dishonest conduct in that. at the times that he
arranged for these investmenis by ASF and Astarra Superannuation Plan. respectively,
he paid reckless disregard as to whether these investments were in the best interests of
these entities as he knew that pait of the $6.559 million invested in Exploration ‘~vnu
shares was 10 be used to purchase shares in Yarraman Winery Inc ("Yarraman”

from Flader Vendor Companies, and that he was then to receive monies a8 4 r;mll. o
these mvestnients. On about 14 December 2003 the Fxploration Fund purchase
Yarraman shares o the value of USE1.75 million using part of the monics ransterred
on 17 and 18 November 2003, As a resubt of this shore transaction and as o
consequence of RiL’h wrd having arranged for ASE and Astarra Superannuaiion Pian (o
mvest o toial of $6.359 million in the Fyploration Fund, Richard arranged @ payvmien!
of USS8T7.580 tabout $1.056.830 as ai 14 December 2005 from g company
controlled by Flader into a Curacas bank account from which he perse mathy

benetriied.

)
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[he poyment of USSS17.5380 was dishonestly received as Richard knowingly:

(u}  failed 10 avoid or otherwise disclose his conflict of interest in respect to
mvestments in the Exploration Fund. contrary 1o the duty he owed o Trin as its

agent:

(n) did not act in the best interests of AST or Astarra Soperannuation Plan in
asranging their invesunents in the Exploration Fund. contrary to the dudes he
owed 10 the members of these entities as the agent tor Trio. and

tc)  profited from his pesition in relation 10 the affairs of Trio by his receipt of these
payments. in circuinstances where he did not disclose. and actively concealed
these payment irom Trio. contrary ie the duty he owed to Trio as its agent.

A diagrammatic representation of these transactions are attached at Tab 2.

Relevant Backeround:

Sce paragraphs 12,13 and 23 to 32 above.

Relevant Facts:

33, Adall relevant tumes;

i.

Lo

t

Richard was a director of AAN and operated the business of AAM from
preouses in Sydnev.

Trio wus the responsible eniity for ASF, a schemz registered with the
Australian sceurities and Invesiments Commission on Y September 20035,
and liad appoiried AAM as the investment manager for ASF.

Trie, es the responsible entity for ASF, owed ASFE the duties ouatlined in
section 601FC of the Corporation Act

Richard was represenied as the ultimate beneficial owner of Tric.

Richard was named as the responsible persen in respect o Trio's AFS
Licence,

dichard. as & director of AAM, was also an agent for ['rio. and owed Trio
the common law duties implied by the agency relationship fo avoid
condlicts of interest and not te profit from his position in relation 10 the
aftairs of Irio. in circumstances where he had not first obained the sully
intormied consent of Trio.

Kichard had the actual and ostenzible awthorite 1o carry out invesnnern
nunagement activities for ASE on behalf of. and as agent tor 1 rio. and

S
ol

did in fact engage 1 such acuvitics o relation o the afiaie of Tric, /
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b Tro'sinvestment commitice did not select the underiving invesiment

managers or timds which wwere 1 be allocated AST monies. This tash was

carried out by A AM.
Richard was also:
a. & direetor of Trio until 12 November 2005, and
b, amember of Tric's investment committer uniil 29 November 2005,

On 15 November 2003, Richard. in his capacity as acent {or Tric and as a
direcior of’ AAM, the investment manager of AST. nrovided a financial service
m that he arranged for ASF 1o deal in 2 financial product by applving for
Exploranon Fund shares 1o ihe value of %3 million.

Cm 15 November 2003, on Richard's dircetion. the sum of $3 million was
transferred by ANZ. as custodian for ASE. to the bank account o) the

Exploration Fund in order 1o invest in Exploration Fund shares,
At all relevant dmes:

a.  Richard was a director of WGI and operated the business of WG fram
premises in Svdney .

h. rio was the trustee and custodian for Astarra Superannuation Plan. a
superannuation fund. and had appoinied WG as one of the jnvestment
managers ot Astarrs Superannuation Plan.

c. rio and WGLL as the vusies and invesiment manager of Astarra
Supcrannuation Pian respectively, owed Astarra Superannuation Plan the
duties outlmed in Part i2 of the Superanmation Industin (Supervision,
der 1993 (CHly) C'STS Aet™).

d Richard. as a divector of WL was adso an agent tor Trio, and owed o
tiic common law duties implicd by the agences relationship to avoid
conflicts of interest and not we profit fron his position in relation to the
aftairs of Trio. in circumsiances where he had not first obiained the iully
iformed consent of Trie.

¢. Richard had the sctual and vstensible anthoriy 10 cars out mvestimens
management activities for Astarra Superanmuation Plag. on behaif of. and

as agent 105 trie. and did in et engase in such activities in relation 1o the

atlairs of Tric.

Trio's mvesinient committes met month s in order 1o monitor Lie
performance of mvestmenis made by Asiarta Suneranmugiion Plat and 1
decide which investmen managers were © be alincated {unds by st
Supcrannuation Plan or new imvesimeite.
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Un 18 November 2003 Richard. in his capacity as ageni tor Tric and as o
director of WGL the investment manager of Aswarra Sunerannuation Plan
provided a financial service in that he arranged for Astarra Superannuation Plan
10 deal in & financial product by applving for Exploration Fund shares o the
value of $3.550 million.

On 18 November 20025, on Richard's direction, the sum of 3,350 million was
transferred by ANZ. as custodian fur Astares Superannuation Pian. to the bank
acenunt of the Exploration und in ovder 1o invest in Explorasion Fund shares.

Atall relevant times Richard was aware that companies controlled by Flader
hud obtained large sharcholdings i Yarraman Winery Iuc ("Yarraman® for
very little consideration as a resuli ¢f a funding agreement arranced by Flader.

Un or about 14 December 2003 the Exploration Fund purchased 1.093.750
Yarraman shares from Flader Vendor Companies at 4 total of cost of
USS1.750.000.

On 14 December 2002 Richard was advised by email from Jacquline Cheung
("Cheung"}. who at the time of the emuail was employed by Zetland Financial
Group Lid. of the Expiovation Fund's purchase of Y arraman shares totalling
USF1.75 million. The emai! advised Richard that monies received from the
shure sales were 1o be apportioned as follows:

a.  USSI02.000 (6% of the woinl) was to be paid 1o Carl Meerveld and Richard
Rell both 03 whom were. at various times. directors of the Exploration
Fund:

b USH4.950 was w be paid to 'Zetland (S' (the ultimate recipient of these
monies 15 not known), and

c. TUS$EIT.S8( was 1o be paid 10 Richard.

The apportionment ol TISHE17.580 represented 46.7% of the monics received
from the toral sale price of the Yarraman shares to the Bxpioration Fund on or
about 4 December 2005,

On or abow 14 December 2003, as & consequence of Richard having arranged
for ASF and Astarrs Superannuation Fund ic invest a iotal of %6.359 millien in
the Exploration Fund. Richard arranged a pavment of 11S$817.580 (ahowt
$1.086.830 a5 at that date) from a company controlled by Flader into 2 Curacao
bank account from which he personally benetitted.

At alfl relevant times. Richard bnew that e had @ contliet of interca: i that:

& he had been mvelved in the creation of the aploration frund which had
been set up ny furtherance of the Scheme:;

b part ol the %6.33¢ million invested in the Daploraion Fund by 487 and
Astarra Superannuation Plan was to be nsed to purchase Yartaman shares

Pans 11 ol 5



trom Flader Vendor Companies:

c. atter the purchase of these Yarraman shares by the Exnloration Fund.
monics were o be transierred to Richard or bank accounts under Richard's
control by companies controlled by Flader. and

d.  the purchase of the Yarraman shares by the Fuploration Fund and the
receipt oi the US$817.380 into 2 Curacao hank accoun: irom which he
rersonally beneiitied. were connecied.

06.  Asaresult of Richard's knowledge referred 1o in the preceding parasraph. when
arranging the mvestments in thic Exploraiion Fund by ASF and Astarra
Superannuation Plan. he paid reckless disregard as to whether the investmenis
inte the Exploration Fund were in the best interests of ASF or Astarra
Superannuation Plan.

67.  Atno time did Richard disclose 16 Tre:

-

. his conflict of interest in respect 1o the investments in the Fxploration Fund.
or

b. that he personally received monies from companies comrolled by Flader as
a direct result of the vestments by AST and Astarra Superannuation Plan
into the Exploraiion Fund.

08.  Atall relevant times. Richard avoided disciosing o Trio his receipi of the
monics from companies controlled by Flader. thraugh his use of private cmail
acceunts and overseas bank sccounis which were not otherwise connected with
AAM. Tnio. WG AFM or ASE.

CHARGE NO.T: CTRCTMSTANCE 'B'

Berween 1 tuly 2008 and 30 June 2009

(2} Richard. as agent for trio and as a director of AAM. the investment manager of
ASE, provided a financial service in that he arranged {for ASF 10 deal in a
financial product by entering into 15 sepurat: Supplemental DPA’s with EVIA
{"Funding DPAs"} 1o the total value of $9.65 million. In relation 1o this
finaneial service provided by Richard te Trio. he engaged io dishonest conduct
in that. at the time that he arranged for thess invesiments by ASE. he paid
reckless disregard as to whether thesc investments were in the best interesie of
ASF end he knew thar part of the $9.63 million was 16 be paid t0 AAM o fung
AAN's ongoing business in {urtherance of the Scheme and that he would
personally receive approsimately $250,008 o his own personal benefit,

(ot o accordance with the Funding DPAs. Trio authorised the wanstor of %9 05
million o1 AST monies inte a bank accoumt covtrolied by GUSL.
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(c) Out of the $Y.65 million of ASI munies. Richard recelved at L.qsl SO06. U-i: 1nto
his bank account in Liechiensicin which he then wansiemed 1o AAW. and AAM
divectly recerved S4.730,499 srom GOCSL (be g 83356341 in u;mll

1di Ow ol the ASF monies transferred 1o AAM by GUSL and Richard. Richard
ultimately received S252.794 or his own personal benefit,

[he payments totalling $3.356.547 10 AAM, of which Richard personally received
5252.794 for his own perconal bene ﬁL were dishonestiv received as Richard

Know ln.'-:‘fi_\' .

t¢)  Tailed to avoid or otherwise disclose his conflict of imerest in respect 10 the
Funding DPAs, contrary to the dutv he owed to Trio as iis agent:

(fy  did not act 1n the best interesis of ASF in arranging the Funding DPAs. coptrar 5
to the duties he owed to the members of ASF as the agent fow Trie. and

(¢)  profited from his pesition in relation to the affairs of Trie by his receint of these
payments. in circurastances where he did not disclose. and activelr concealed.
these payments from Trio, contrary 16 the duty he owed to Trio as its agent.

A diagrammatic representaiion of this transaction is atiached at Tab 3.

Relevant Backeround:

Sce paragraphs 12, 13 and 23 to 32 abhove.

Relevant Facts:

0% Reter o paragraphs 53 and 34 ahove.

70, Dunng the period 1 July 2008 to 30 June 2009, Richard. in his capacity as ageni
ior Tric and as a director of AAM. the investment manager of ASF, provided a
financial service in that he arranged for ASF 10 deal in & financial product h;.
entering inio 13 separate Supplemental DPA's with EMA ("F unding DPAs")
the iotal value of 9,050,000, The Reference Assets identified in the ¥ undmﬁ
DFAs were shares in the Sierra Fund, Pacific Fund and SBS Fund.

71, Atthe ume when he executed the Funding DP A« Richard had 2 conflict of
inierest as he was aware that a portion of the ASF monies sent 1o EMA was ihen
going to he paid 10 AAM (via EMA and GCSLto fund AARM's ongoiny
business and that he was also to iceeive some funds for personal vse.

As a result of Richard's knowwledze referred to i the preceding paragranhi. when
arranging the Funding DPAS hie paid reekless disrerard as to whether these

investments were in the best interesis of ASF,

S0 Berween 1 duly 2008 w 30 June 20604:



ao AAN recerved S4.730.49€ dircethy from GCSI with the consent of
Richard. and

b, Richurd received at least $600.042 from companies controlled by Flader
mte Richard's LG bank account in Liechienstein

as 4 consequence of Richard has ing arranged the Punding DP Az (colleciive
the "AAM Monies™).

74, In turtherance of the Scheme. between 1 July 2008 10 30 June 2009 Richard
transierred to AAM the aforementinned S606.042 e had received into his LG
ank account in Liechtensicin.

=}
r

At all relevant times Richard was aware that the AAM Monices were derived
from ASF investor funds that had been placed with EMA in accordunce with the
Funding DPAs.

76, From the AAM Monies. Richard authorised npavimenis ol at least $252. 704
which were for his own persenal bencfit $67.788 oi which constituted rertal
pavments for his personal residence.

77.  Atno time did Richard disclose to Trio or ASE:

a.  his conthict of jnicrest iu respect to the Funding DPAs: or

b, that 53.350.541 of ihe 89.65 million in ASF monies paid 10 EMA pursuant
to the Funding DP Az was transferred to AAM: o

¢ that 3Z52.794 of the AAM Monies were used for his own personal benetit,
78. At all relevant times Richard avoided disclosing 10 Trio the reccit of the
monies by AAM and himself. from GCSL and companies controlled i by FMadei

through his use of private emnail accounis and his overseas bank account which
weic not otherwise connected with AAM. Trio. WGL .-'JT\*I or ASF

CHARGE NO.2: DISHONEST CONDUCT

S.J041G(1) OF THE CORPORATION ACT 2001 (CTH)

In contravention of subsection 1041Gi11 of the Corporations Act Richard in the
course of carrving on & 1inancial services business in Svdney. cugaged in the
dishoanest wndud detailed in circumstances 'A" 16 "D below and arranged for over
$10.4 million of ASF maries 1o be invesied inte Flader Controlled Funds in
turtheranze of the Scheme. in cireumstances where Richard knew that over §9.7
million of those monies was o be veed 1o purchase tie assets of. or shares in. the
Exploration Fund that were not otherwise converiible to cash. To date. the guidator
of ASF have been unuble to recover any of the ASF monics i ested imo the Flader
Controlled Funds. -
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CHARGE NO.2: CIRCUMSTANCE 'A’

In furtherance of the Scheme. on 8 Gcetober 2007 and 12 December 2007 Richard. as
agent for Trio and as a director of AAM. the investment manager of ASE. provided
financtal services in that he arranged for ASF to deal in financial products by enteriig
nto 2 separate Sunplemental DPA's with EMA to the value of $1.5 million and $2.2
rmlhun. respectively totalling $2.7 million) (the "ACAST Redemption DPAs" ).
From: these ASF monies. on 12 October 2007 and 19 December 2007, pavmients of
S1.494.191 and S 1655 488, respeciively. (totaliing $3.149.079) were received by
Mercer Investment Nominees Lid in redemption of an invesiment made by the
Ausiralasian Conierence Association Superannuation Trusi - Australia ("ACAST" i
the Exploration Fund.

In relation to these financial services provided by Richurd. he acted dishonestiv in that
contrary 1o the interests of the ASF. he knew that mosi of the ASF montes transierred
to EMA were to be used w meet the redemption request made by ACAST Pty Ld. on
behalt of ACAST. that had been outstanding since 10 April 2006 in respect te shares
in the Exnloration Fund. which shares were not otherwise convertible 1o cash if not
for the ASF monies made available by the ACAST Redempiion DPAs. Daspite
having ths knowledge. Richard did not disciose this. or his conflict of interes: in
respect te the ACAST Redemption DPAs. 10 Trio or ASF. Furihermore, Richard paid
reckless disregard as 1 whether the ACAST Redemption DPAS were in the best
interests of ASF,

A diagrammatic representation of this transaciion is attached «t Tab <

Relevant Background:

See paragraphs 12, 13 and 235 to 34 above.

Relevant Faets:

79, Atall relevant times ACAST Pty Lid was the trusiee for ACAST. a
superannuation fund.

50, On 19 October 2005 AUAST made a $2 million investment into the Exploration
Fund.

§1. Onorprior o 24 Geiober 2005 Richard was advised by email frore Zetland
Fronancial Group Lid (a company previeusls sssociaied with Flader that
Prov !dyc; administration and custodial services). that the Faploration Fund had
ved USS2.242.473 and that the bulance in the account was 1S82.077 405,
1l'n~ sum o USS2.242.475 represaited the montes mvested by ACAST inio the
Exploration Fund und Richard was svware of this.

820 Asgvesult o the 57 milon imvestinent by ACANT nio the Fxploration Fund.
Adaly

ACAST was allocased 12827 Bxplotation §und shares iine "ACAST
Investment”}

T
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Ou 10 April 2000 ACAST Pty Lad wanied to redeent all of the ACAST
Investment and notifled this intention to Richard (the "ACAST Investment
Request™).

Cr 10 May 2606 Richard sent an email 1o Carl Meerveld. o former direcior ni
the Exploration Fund. asking i to draft a letier in response 10 tie ACAST
Redemption Requesi and miciude a statemeni that:

Laue ra e tacr it [ACAST S D invesimoni is suli recers and e JuCT Linad
JExploraiion Fundj are jeliy invesied, that the faplomenied stratesios vill
prevent [Exploradion Fundf o provide ACAST with amy Liguidin wnil DEC ai @
miiningn. " (sic)

Ori or about 11 May 20066 ACAST received a letter from Professional
Administration St Lucia Lid ("PAL"). the administraior of the Expioration Fund
at that ume. which included the statement requested by Richard in the preceding
paragraph.

On 29 June 2006 the holder of the ACAST investment was changzed 1o Meree:

<

Investment Nominees Lid ("Mercer” as wrustee of the Mercer Super Trust.

In about mid-October 2006, and again on 27 November 2006, Richard advised
Mercer that the redemption of the ACAST Investment was expected o be
processed around MasJune 2007

On 15 May 2007 Richard sent Mercer 4 portiolio valuation statement issued by
PAL which valued the ACAST investment. as ai 39 April 2007, at 83.876.936.

In May 2007 Richard advised Mercer that it should be receiving a redemption
amount of $1.5 railiion from the ACAST Invesiient in August 2007, Mereer
did not receive any paymeni in respect to the ACAST Investment in August
M HYT

SUREZ,

On 12 September 2007 Richard advised Mereer tha it shouid receive $1.5
million in about 14 davs as o part of the redempiion of the ACAST Investment
and that the balance of the redemption was i be paid in avound laie November
2007, Mercer did not recerve any pavment in respect to the ACAST Invesiment
in September 2007,

On & Gctober 2007 Richard. in his capacit as agent for Trie and s & direcior of
AAM, the mvestment manager of ASE. provided a financial service in that he
arranged for ASF 10 deal in o financial product by entering into o Suppiemental
PPA with EMA 1o the value of 1.3 millior, with the Reference Asser being
SBS Fund shares. Qi@ Ocioher 2007, in response o this Supplemental DPA.
518 million was transierred o EMAYS bank account

O or about 12 October 2007 i SBY fund purchased shares in Varvaiman and
IDate Corporanion Inc ("HYate™ ot UNSZ20 per shore and USS LG per share
respectively. from the Bxploration Fund for o total amount o1 USSR48.000, und



a3,

O

9.

Ys.

99,

100,

& further USS997.700 was paid by the SBS Fund o Exploration Fund for future
stock purchases.

No menies were received by Mereer in respeci to the ACAST Inyvestment
redemption request until 12 October 2007, On that date USSL.343.700 was paid
into the Mercer Super Trust bank accoun: by GCSL. The amount received into
the Mercer Super Trusi bank account was $1 464,101

The monies received by Marcer on 12 October 2007 were part of the same 4SF
monies that had been paid inio EMA's bank aceount pursuant to the
Supplemental DPA daicd ¥ October 2007 and Richard was aware of this fact,

On 2 November 2007 Mercer received from PAL the pavment instructions and
a redemption coniirmation staiement advising that 5.834 shares in the
Exploration Fund had been redecmed by Mercer on 1 September 2007 at a price
of UIS§$204.5520 per share.

On 7 December 2007 Mercer sent Richard a letier advising him that if the
redemption of the ACAST Investment remained outstanding, Mercer may
commence legal action.

On 12 December 2007 Richard, as agent for Trio and as a director of AAM. the
myestment manager of ASL. provided a financial service in that he arranged for
AST 1o deal m o financial produci by entering inw o Supplemental DPA with
FMA 0 the value o0 $2.2 million. with the Referencs Asset bzing SBS Fund
shares. On the same date. in response 1o this Suppiemental DPA. $2.2 million
wae ransterred to ENVA's bank account.

I December 2007, the SBS Fund purchased 1 million shares in {Date. ai
LS81.25 per share. from the Exploration Fund for a wotal amouns of
US51.250,000.

On 19 December 2007 the Mercer Super Trust bank accouni received
$1.655.488 m fmal payinen: of the balance of the ACAST Investment.

The monics received by Mereer on 21 December 2007 were part of the same
ASE monies that had been paid into EMA's bank account pursuani to the
Supplemental DPA dated 172 December 2007 and Richard swvas asware that
without these ASF monizs the ACAST Investment was not otherwise
convenible 1o cash.

At ali refevant umes berween & October 2007 and 21 December 2007 Richurd
was awars tha

4. shares in the Dxploration Fond were not otherwise convertibie (¢ cash
withuut nievs monies being made available by ASH:

b oot of the $2.7 million 1 ASE monics ransierred 10 FMA pursuunt o the
VCAST Rederaption DPAs was w0 be used 1o nuke pavments 1o Mercer in



respeci to the shares beld m the Luplormion Fund as part of the ACAST
Investment:

¢. inorder to make the payments 1o Mercer. part ol the ASF monies were used
io purchase othervise illiquid assets from the Exploration Fund. namely
Y arraman and IDate shares. and
d. 1il'the Exploranon Fund failed to redeem the ACAST Investment. it could
Jeopardise the ongoing operation: of the Scheme described in paragraph 2
above.
102, As aresult of Richard's knowledge referred to in the preceding paragraph. when
arranging the ACAST Redempuon DPAs. he paid reckless disrecard as w
vhether these investments were 1n the best interests of ASFE.
103. Aino ume did Richard disclose t ‘T rio or ASF:

a.  his conflict of interest in respect 10 the ACAST Redemption DPAs. or

. that §3,149.679 of the $5.7 million in ASF monies paid te EMA pursuant io
the ACAST Redempuion DPAS was paid 1o redeem ihe ACAST lovestment.

CHARGE NO.2: CIRCUMSTANCE 'B'

In turtherance of the Scheme. on 14 December 2007 Richard, as a direcior of AAM.
provided a financial service to ¥ereer in that he artanged for Mereer to deal in a
financial product. bemnz the redemption of the ACAST Investment. In reiation o this
financial service provided by Richard. he engaged in dishonest conduet in that he
made false represemations to Mercer, in that he confirmed that the 1,633,500
redemption value reflected the full value of the balancs of the ACAST Investment in
the Exploration Fund as at 30 November 2007 in circumsiances where he knew that
this amount was $982.899 less than the value of the ACAST Investment as reflected
in the internal records of the Exploration I'und (being $2.638.399). Despite having
this knowledge. Richard did not disclose this. or his conflict of interest in respect
the Exploration Fund, to Mercer

Relevant Backeround:

1

See naragraphs 12 and 135 above.

Relevant Facts:

164, O 12 December 2047

a. Richard sent an email w Cheung, who at the time of the email was an
employer of GUSLL instruciing her to create @ statement reflecting the
amount ol 51655 300 ax the "net assets™ of the ACAST Investmient and
"Dt put ameasn of wniie or S 417 On the same day Cheung emailed « S
Riachard a draft or the letter be had reauested on PAL letierhead ior his
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TCVICW,
b Cheung sent Richard an email stating. in part:
s noi that good seving ihe palence as ai 30 Nov is that cyivaten
AUDL om0t much move prerer in the way (sici thar they aceepr to eei thai
AUDI.6nr tor giving up iheir holdines.

M couse issie when do the addii.” seic

On 13 December 2007 Richard sent an email 1o Mercer that attached a letter on
PAL letierhead dated 12 December 2007 stating. in part:

"Me arc pleused to contirm the avaiiability of the balance of asseis held in vour

account for the amonat of AUD $1.633.3500 (haiance as ai 30 Novemher 20071

This final redemption of vour holdings in the Exploraiion Fund Limited will he
completed and vour account closed at the daie of money being transforred
recerved (sic) by vou,

Please sign and confirm the accepiaitee of the above. "

This equated to S163.6656 per share for cach of the remaining 9.993
Lxploration I'und shares making up the remaining balance of the ACAST
Investment.

Richard. in all his deatings with Mercer in respect 1o the redemption of the
ACAST Irvesiment. acted in his capacity as a director of AAM.

On 14 December 2007 Mercer semi an email 1o Richard asking how the fina!
redemption amourit of the ACAST Irivestment had been detenmined and secking
confirmation that Mercer was receiving the "“rrue value and no: discounted ax
Lhis redempiion is hor being paid earhy”.

On 14 Decernber 2007 Richerd sent en emd! response 1o Mercer's email
relerred te¢ in the preceding paragraph which advised. in part. that:

"The final redemption amoun: which was compmnicaied (o vou was simph i
net valtue of the accownt as ai Nov 30, 2007,

the manager made the gaecision to redeem the ndl amaw o Mercer
immediaicly while reacmption: requests from other invesiors still remaiv on hold
due to the curreidt fack of Tiguidin.,

I supmary Mereer will receive the nier ond rue value of i (sici Nev 30

Fatuarion”

On 17 December 2007 Mereer signed the fctier on PAJ lenerhead that had beo

sent by Richard on 13 December 2007, and forvaarded a copy 1o Richard m L



facsimile.

T At the ume Richard sent the email o1 14 Decemiber 2007 he was aveare that tic
internul valuation records of the Exploration Fund valued the ACAST
Investment at o price that was S982.89% more thar he veas Tepreseniing 1o
Mereer and that his representation was false.

Portiohe vatuations sent by PAL w other invesiors in the Exploration Fund in
December 2007 represent that the price of the Fxploration Fund shares as at 30
November 2007 as recorded in the iniernal valuation records. vas 52640728
per share. This is over 37% more than the $163.6630 per share that was paid
Mercer. Therefore Mercer was underpaid for the balance of the ACAST
Investment by an amount of $982 8o,

2
oy

11Z. In turtherance of the Scheme. at ne time did Richard disclose 10 Mercer.
a.  his conflict ol interest in respect w the Exploration Fund. or
b. that the value of the balance of the ACAST Investment paid to Mereer was
5082,899 less than the value of the ACAST Investment as reflecied in the

mmternal records of the xploration Fund.

CHARGE NO.2: CIRCUMSTANCE '

In turtherance of the Scheme. betweer 22 May 2008 and 18 June 2008, Richard. :ic
agent ior itio and as a director of AAM. the invesimeni manager of AST. providad
tmancial services in that he arranged ior ASF 16 deal in financial products by entering
mto 3 scparate Supplemental DPA's with EMA to the total vaiue of $2.5 million
{"ARP Redemption DPAs"i. Out of the $2.2 milhon of ASI monies transierred o
EMA between 22 Max 2008 and 18 Junc 2008, payments wotalling $2.157.900 were
eceived by the ARP Growth Fund in redempiiorn: of'its Exploration Fund shares. via
Astarra Professional Pensions PST Super Fund and Astarra Professinna] P8
Peasions Fund.

in relation to these financial services provided by Richard. he acted dishonestiy in thas
contrary to the nterests of ASE. he knew that pani of the ASF monies wransisred 1o
EMA were (0 be used to make redemiption pavments to the AR Groveth Fund in
respect to shares it held mn the Exploration Fund. which sharee were not otherw ise
convertible 10 cash. When arranging the ARP Redemption DPAs. Richard paid
reckless disrepard as 1o whether the ARP Redempiion DPAS were in the besi interest:

of AST.

Relevant Backeround:

See paragraphs 12,13, 2310 34 and 79 w0 112 above, as well as paragraphs 113 10 118
below.
113 On 21 November 2007, in order o micet the obicctives of Trio's Investmeis

Committer 1o reduce manager specific visk and marginally incronse CAPOSUTC 10



traditional equity managers. Richard agreed at a meeung of Trio's Investment
Commitiee that:

2. @55 million redemption request was io be placed with the Exploration
Fund. and

b, the monies redeemed were to be invested in a nev fund (that was not one of

the Flader Controlled Funds?,

114, Richard did not submit the £ million redemption request to the Fxploration

Fund in writing. No part of this redemption request was ever paid without new

monies being made available by ASE.

115, On 30 July 2008 Trio’s Investment Committes resolved to improve the overal
liquidity position of Astarra's Overscas bquity Portfolio by placin cal¥4z
million redemption request on the Exploration 'und.

116. Prior 1o 1 August 2008, Trio had seat requests to A4 seeking the redempic
of amounis totalling $4.2 millioa from the Expioration Fund.

117, On 1 August 2008 Richurd Teiter ("Telfer”). the Chiel Financial Officer of 1
and a member of Tric's Investment Committee. seni an email 1o Richard

i

TiC

advising. in part, that Trio's Investment Commitiee had resolved 1o redeem 4.7

million trom the Exploradon Fund.

118. Richard did not suomit the $4.2 million redemption request to the Fx ploration
Fund in writing. No part of this redemption reguest was ever paid without new

monies being made available by ASE,

Relevant Facts:

119, At all relevant times Pau! Gresham ("Gresham”) was a revreseniative tor the
ARP Growth Fund. In February 2008 the AKP Growth Fund had over $6
muhon invested in the Exploraiion Fund,

120. ¥he mnvestment by the ARP Growth Fund was recorded by the Exploration

Fund as being part of the investment beld in the pames of Asirra Professional

Pensions PST Pensions Fund ("PST Pensions Fund™) and the Astarma
Professional Pensions PST Super Fund ("PST Super Fund";.

121, From 27 February 2008 Gresham, on behalt of the ARP Growih Fand made a

number of requests 1w Richard and AAM io redeem shares in the Exploration
Fund.

1220 Oa 22 May 2008 Richard. in his capaciie as agent for T1io and a- a direcior ¢
A\

AANL the ipvestment mapager of ASE. provided ¢ [mancia) service in that lic ‘
arranged ior ANT w deal n @ finsctal produet by entering ine o supplemiental  /

DA with E8EA 1o the value of 53000010 witl the Reference Asast hgmrxf Sterfg ™~

e, A £
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Fund shares, On 23 May 2008, v response to this Supplements! TP AL 300000
was transierred 1o FALA s bank account.

In June 2008, the Sierra Fund purchased 383.200 shares in [Daie from the
Exploration Fund at TIS$1.23 per share for a iotal of USS470.600,

On 2 June 2065 the swm of US5478 93850, heing the redemption proceeds of
1.80% Exploration Fund shares, was paid inic the ANZ custodial account jor
PST Super Fund. Om 3 June 2008 the sum of $499.900 voas thep paid from: this
aceourd into the ANZ custodial aceount ler ARP Growih Fund.

The monies received by the ARP Growth Fund on 2 June 2008 were part of the
same ASE montes that had been paid inte EMA's bank account pursuant 1o the
Supplemenial DPA daied 22 May 2008. and Richard was aware that withou
these ASF monies the ARP Growth Fund's investment in the Fxploration Fund
wag not otherwise convertible te cash.

A diagrammatic representation of this transaction is atached at Tak 5.

Kedemption Pavmen: No,Z

-

it

131,

157,

On 17 June 2008 Richard, in his capacity as agent for Irio and as a director of
AAM. be investment manager of ASE, pravided a financial service in that he
arranged tor ASE o deal in a tnancial product by entering into # Supplemental
DPA with EMA to the vaiue of $1.000.000, with the Reference Asset heing
SES Fund shares. On 19 Junc 2008, in response to this Supplemental DPA.
51.000.000 was wransferred 1o EMA's bank account.

1o Junc 2008, the SBS Fund purchased £10.360 shares in iDaie from the
Exploration Fund al USS1.25 per share for a 1otal of US$762.200.

On 20 June 2008 the sur of US$762.200. being the redemption proceeds of
2.893 Exploration Fund shares. was paid inte the ANZ cusiodial account ior
PST Super Fund. On 22 June 2008 the sum of $800.000 was then paid from this
account into the ANZ custedial accouni for ARP Growth Fund.

The momwes veceived by the ARP Growth Fuad on 25 June 2008 were part of the
same ASI momies that had been paid inte EMA'S bunih account pursuant 16 the
Supplememal DPA dated 17 June 2008, and Richard was aware that withoui
these ASF monies the ARY Growth Fund's invesument in the Exploration Fund
was nol otherwise convertible 1o cash.

A diagrammatic represemation of this transaction is attached at Tab o,

Redempuvn Paxvment No.5

On 17 June 2068 Richard. in his capacity as agent for Trio and 25 a director of

AAML the myvestment manager of ASH provided o financial service in thut be i
arranged Lor ASI to deal 1 a financial product by entering into 3 Supplemental- _
DPA with EMA to the velue of $806.000, with the Relerence Assai being =

o
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Pacttic Fund shares. On 19 June 2008, m responss o this Supplemental DPA.
SSOGO00 was transterred to ENIA'S baok account,

133. InJuly 2008 the Pacific Fund purchased 681.600 IDuate shares at US$1.23 per
share 1romi the Exploration Fund for @ wtal amount of USS852.000.

On 15 duly 2008 the sum o T'S5832.000. being the redemntion procesds of

3.180 Exploration Fund shares. was paid into the AN7 custodial account jor

PST Super Fund. On 17 July 2008 the sum of $838.000 wag then paid from this

account into the ANZ custodial account ior ARP Growih Fund.

)
I

135, The monies received by ANZ on behalf of the ARP Growth Fund on 17 7 Juiy
2008 were pm of the sumic ASE monies thai had been paid into EMA's bank:
account purguamni 16 the Supplemental DPA dated 17 June 2008, and Richard
was aware that without these ASF menies ithe ARP Growth Fund's imvesiment
in the Exploration Fund was not otherwise convertible o cast.

130. A diagrammatic representaiion of this transaction 1s attached at Tab 7.

-
1

Redempiion Pavmenis Nos.1 o !

137, Atall relevant times berween 22 May 2008 and 18 June 2008 Richard was
awarce that:

4. shares in the Exploration Fund were not otherwise convertible to cash
without new monies heing made available by ASF:

b, part of the $2.3 million in 48T monies wansterred to EMA pursuant o the
ARP Redempiion DPAs was 10 be used to make payments to the AL
Growth Jrund 1n respect to the shares it held in the Exploration Fund:

¢.norder to make the paymenis to the ARP Growth Fund. part of the AST
monies were used to purchase assets that were not otherwise cons eriible to
cash from the Exploration Fund. namely IDate shares. and

d. 17 the byploration Fund failed 10 redeem the ARP Growth Fund in respec
to its investment in the bxploration Fund. it could jeopardise the ongoing
operation of the Nchveme deseribed in paragraph 2 above,

[38. Asaresult of Richard's knowledge referred o in the preceding paragraph. when
arranging the ARP Redemption DPAs. he paid reckless disregard as w0 whethe;
these investments were in the best interests of ASE.

CHARGE NO.2: CIRCUMSTANCE 'D!

Irs furtherance of the Scheme. betveen 28 Avguost 2008 and 31 March 2009, Richard.
us qeent for Trio and as u dircctor of AAM. the invesiment manager of ASF, provided
tinancial services 1 that on 10 uuc;r;i\n'r he arvanged for ASF to deal in financial
producis by purchasing shares in the Fxploradon Fund direethy from ARP Growih /
Fund 1o the total value of 8445 millon, I relation 1o these financial services S




provided by Richard. he acted dishonest!y in that conirary te the interests of the ASE
he knew that the ARP Growth Fund wanted to redeem s shares in the Exploration
Fund and that shares in the Exploration Fund were significantis overpriced and were
not otherwise convertible to cash if not purchased by AST

Relevant Backoround:

Sece paragraphs 12, 13,22 10 534 and 79 1 13§ above,

Relevant Facts:

139

1440,

P44,

On 10 occasions between 28 August 2008 10 31 March 2009 Richard, in his
capacity as agent for Tric and es a direcior of AAM. the investment manager o
ASI. provided financial services in that he arranged for ASF 1o deal in financial
products by purchasing Exploration Fund shures. on behalf of ASF. directly
from the ARP Growth Fund.

On cach occasion. Richard arranged the purchase of the shares or behalf of
ASE, by emailing Trio with instructions io purchase the Exploration Fund
shares directly from the ARP Growih Fund for a stipulated amount of Honeyx.

On each occasion. when providing ASF with the financial services relanng to
the purchase of the Expleration Fund shares from the ARP Growth Fund.
Richard knew that the ART Growth Fund wanted to redezm its shares in the
Exploration Fund and thai these shares were not otherwise convertible io cash.

i response to each emai! from Richard. Trio instructed the custodian off ASF 16
transfer the amount of money stipulated by Richard directly 1o the custodian of
the ARP Growth Fund in payment of its Exploration Fund shares, on behalf of
the AST. Exploration Fund shares to the value of $4.43 million were purchased
from the ARP Growth Fund by ASF under this process.

I'hese investments made on behalf of ASF were not made in accordance with
ihe procedures sct out in ASF's Produci Disclosure Statement dated 15 Febrnar N
20006. Contrary 1o the estabiished procedure, no Supplemental DPAs were
entered inte to reflect these investments by ASF in the Exploration Fund shares
until 30 June 2009,

At ali relevant times between 28 August 2008 and 31 March 2009 Richard was
aware that:

¢.  shares in the Exploraiion Fund were not otherwise convertibic 1o cash
unless purchased by ASF. and

k. ithe Exploration Fund fuiled 1o redeem the ARY Growth Fund's
mvestment. it could jecpardise the ongning eperation of the Scheniw
described in paragranh 2 above,

As a result of Richard's knowledge rejerred to in the preceding paragraph. when- y

arranging the ASF's purchase of shares in the Exploration Fund from the ARP



(rrowth Fund. he paid reckless disregard as to whether these investments were
in the best interests of ASF,

CHARGE NO.2: CIRCUMSTANCE 'E!

In furtherance of the Scheme. from 1 November 2006 unti! 30 September 2000
Richard. as agent {or Tric and as  director of AAM. the investment mansger of A8F,
provided financial services m that he arranged for ASF 1o deal in finuncial products
by entering into 36 Supplemental DPA’s with EM A 1o a wetal value of $34.9 million
twhich sum includes the 13 Funding DPAS wotalling %9.635 million referred to in
paragraph 70 above). with the Reference Assets being shares in the New Funds. In
relation to these financial services provided by Richard to ASF. he engaged in
dishonest conduct in that he knew that.

far  Trie's investment commitiee had placed a ban on further investment into the
Exploration Fund;

(b)  he had participated in the creation of the New Funds:

teh  there was no diversification achieved by the ASF obtaining a financial exposure
to the New Funds pursuant to the Supplemental DP As. as the New Tunds svere
essentially the same type of investment as the Explorauon Fund. and

(di  the New lunds had all been creaicd and operated in order 1o give Trie's
invesument committes and ASY tie false appearance of diversification within
ASE's investments and at ne ume did Richard advise Trio's investmem
commuttee or ASF a5 10 the true state of aftairs.

Relevant Backeround:

Sec paragraphs 12, 13 und 22 10 34 above,

Relevant Facts:

146, On 16 August 2006, as a result of concerns abowi the lack of availehic
iniormation concerning the Exploration Fund and concerns abour the lack of
diversity In both lavestments and invesiment managers vwithin the alternative
asset class, Trio's investmen! commiiiee placed 2 ban upon any o the Trie
Managed Funds investing any new monies into the Fxploration Fund.

On < October 2000 Richard was notidied of the decision by Trio's mvestmens
comnutiee to redeem all monies bield hy the Trio Managed Funds in the
Exploration Fund. This decision was subsequenthy replaced with u bap by
Trio's mvestmient commitice on the Investment of ey moenies inte the
Fxploration bund,

4

148, In response withe ban by Trio's investment committee on new mopies beine
paid into the Expliration Fund and the proposed redempiion of oll monics from
that fund. bath GCSL Group and Richard arranced tor the creation of the New



Funds (being Sicrra Fund. Pacific Fund and SBS Fund) in iurtherance of the
Scheme.

1449 From 1 November 2006 umil 20 September 2009, Richard. in his capacity as
agent for Tric and as a director off AAM. the investmen: manager of ASF.
rrovided financial services in that he arranged tor ASF 1o deal i financia!
products by entering inte 36 Supplemental DPAs with EMA 1o a total value of
$34.9 million. with the Reference Assets being shares in the New Funds.
Pursuant te these Supplemental DPAs. $34.9 million o ASF monies wis sent b
EMA and was used 1o purchase shares in the New Fands,

130, In fact there was no diversilication achieved by AST investing i the New
Funds because. like the Exploration Fund:

a.  the named administrator companics for cach of the New: Funds had been
established by the GCSL Group and had delegated their admimistrative
responsibilities to the GCSL Group:

b.  the named invesimeni manager companies and directors for the New
Funds had all been arranged by GCSU Group:

C. the New Funds were under the ultimate control of Flader. in tha: the
named fund directors, invesinent managers and adminisirators all acted
under Flader's imstruciion. and

d. cach of the New Funds held a small range of the same tvpes of asscts.

151, Atall relevant times Richard was aware that there was no diversificstion
achicved by ASF's investments in the New Funds and that these funds had all
been created 1n order to give Trio's investment comunitiee and ASH ithe fatse
impression of diversification within ASF's investmentis. bui at nu iime did

lichard disclose ihis information to Trio's investment commitiee or ASE.

SCHEDULED CHARGE — FALSE STATEMENTS

S.J041E(1) OF THE CORPORATION ACT 2001 (("TH)

In contravention ol subsection T041E(1) of the Corporations Act Richard engaged in
ihe following conduct:

SCHEDULED CHARGE: CIRCUMSTANCE 'A!

In turtheranes o the Scheme from 10 April 2007 unul 30 September 2009 Riciurd, in
tiwe course of carrving on a fimancia! services business in his capasity as o director ol
AAM. which was at all relevant times the invesiment manager of ASF. made
materialb mizleading staiemenic about the value o AST's Supplemental P AS with
EMA, thut were meluded 1 valvation statements nrovided 1o Trie. Al ihe time that
Richard mude the statements about the value of ASF» Suppiemental DP As wiih
EMA.he knew that the value auributed o these investmenis was materially

Page26 of I2



misicading as he was aware of:

(2)  relawed party dealings between the Fiader Controlled Funds and Flader Vendor
Comnanies:

(k) the large financial exposure of the Flader Conwrolled Funds 1o Flader Vendor
Companies 1 respect 10 ixed interest instruments. foreigm exchange
agreements. zere couron bonds and dertvauves:

(¢i  anamount of $817.580 being paid to Richard after the Lxploration Fund had
purchased shares in Yarramarn. using monies sent by ASF and Astarra
Superannuation Plan to the Exploratdon Fund on Richard's recommendation or
mstruction:

(d)y  the valuation methodolegy adepied concealed the fact that ihe recorded value of

the assets held by the Flader Controlled Funds was significontly oversiaied. and
(¢} that the Exploration Fund's asseis were not otherwise convertible to cash

As aresult of this knowiedee, Richard was aware thai the valuation siatemenis
provided te Trio maierially over-inflated the true value of ASF's Supplemental DPAs
with EMA. Richard was also aware that the materially misieading statements he
made were included in valuation statements provided o Tric and was likely 1o have
the effcet of inducing Itie to apply for. and acquire. further iinancial products
through Supplemental DV Az with FMA.

Relevant Backeround:

See paragrapbs 12, 15. 27 to 34 and 7910 131 above as well as paragraphs 152 ¢ 167
helow,

Relevant Backeround:

1320 Avall relevant imes the GCSL Group provided adminismration services to the
Flader Controlled Funds. These administration services mchuded the
preparaton of the vatuaton statemenis for the asseis owned by the Flader
Controlled Funds.

153, The pordolio of assews held by each of the Flader Controlied Funds consisted of
4. US Shares:

b, derivatives. such as pui opuon agreemenis or vwarrants, as<ociated with the
US Shares hield ("Derivatives" v

¢ torengr exchange aircements. and
do o ixed Interest insruments. such a8 2ero coupon bonds which accumulaie
interest at a iixed rate uitt) the redempuion date, T



154, The counterparties w0 nearly all of the transactions or financial instruments
entered mto by the Flader Controlled Funds were Flader Vendor Companics or
another of the other Flader Controlled Funds.

135, Avall relevani times. the US Shares held by the Fiader Conrolled Fund: were o
very limned sclection, and many were common across the Flader Conirolled
Funds.

1536, The US Shares held by the Flader Comrolled Funds of which Richard was
aware, were all thinly traded or largely illiquid stock.

157, The itliquidity of the US Shares meant that the last rade price could be casil v
manipulated.

158 The internal valvation statements for the Flader Conirolled Funds record that the
Derivatives were of considerable value but they had nevertheless been entered
imo between the Flader Controlled Funds and Flader Vendor Companics for
minimal or no consideration. contemporaneously with the Flader Controlled
Funds recognising a decline 1 the value of the 'S Sharzs, which were the same
US Shares covered by the Dertvarive agreement.

159, An example of this occurred in July 2006 where, contemporancousty with the
mternally recognised price of shares held in Advanced Medical Institate Tnc
{"AMI") fulling from USS2.30 10 USS2.00. the Flader Controlled Funds were
allegedly able 10 obtain put siock options for AMI shares. then valued ai
USE2.352.047 30r ne cost.

168 Another example of this occurred in April 2008 where. contemporaneous!y with
the internally recognised price of Yarraman shares heid falling from 1/8$2.25 to
UNS1.50. the Flader Controlled Funds were allegedty abic to purchasc put stock
oplions for Y arraman shares. then valued ai USS358 432, for an outlay of only
USS0.570.

1ol Similarly in September 2008 where, contemporanesush with the iniernally
recognised price of IDate shares held falling from US$1.25 1o US$0. 10, the
Flader Controlled Funds were allegedly abic o abiain put stock options for
IDate shares. then valued at US$3.613.611. for no cost.

i62. These Derivaiives permitted the Flader Coatrolled Funds w reyuire the
counterparty, being Flader Vendor Companies, to purchase at a set price tthe
"Strike Price”). those US Shares identified in the agreement. The Strile Price
was usughly set ai the highest price that had been paid by the Flader Controlled
Funds for those US Shares that were the suhicet of the Derivative avreement.

03, Therciore the effeet of the Derivatives was that they effectively preser ed the
value of the investments held by the Flader Comtrolled Funds in those 1S
Shares that were covered by these Derivaiive agreements.

To4. o respect 1o the zero coupon bonds held by the Exploration Fund:

Fags 20 o 20



165,

jOH,

167,

g they first appedred in the internal valuation statements in November 2007
which was around the time that the global financial crisis was Hereasing
In intensity:

b thebonds vielded 187, but as these were zero coupon bonds. the interest
was accumulated so ne payraent needed to be made by the bond issuer
uniif the bonds were redeemed:

¢.  iheyv appear to huve been purchased at a cost of aboui US$18.9 million
using monies made available from the exercise of put siock ontion
agreements and foreign exchange agreements already held by the
Exploration Fund:

d.  the total vaiue of the Exploration Fund at the time it purchased thess
bonds was allezedly about 1USS61.4 million. and

¢.  irom November 2007 onwards these bonds contributed significantls to the
Exploration Fund's reported investment veturns.

Richard wag aware of the reliance by the Flader Contrelled Funds upon the
iixed imterest instruments. foreign exchange agreements. zero coupor bonds and
Derivatives (collecuively referred to as the "Non-equity Investments”) in order
o maintain or crease the value of those funds and that Flader Vendor
Companies were the counterparties 10 these iinancial instrumenis,

Ihe Non-equity Investments wore usually not formally exceuted by the Flader
Controlled Funds or the counterparties. being Flader Vendor Companies. and
Richard was unaware whether these couuterparties had the capach VLG meet
their {inancial obligations to the Flader Controiled Funds,

Fuarthermore. Richard knew that the administrators of the Flader Controlicd
Funds were also under Flader's control and he also knew that the assets of the
Flader Controlled Funds had not been independenily valued.

Relevant Facts:

| B4,

169,

171,

From 5 June 2000 apwards. Trio received a schedule setiing out the vaivation of
cach of the Supplemental DPAs ("EMA Valuation Statement” ' at the eud of
cach month.

From % June 2000 until 6 May 260 the EM A Valuation Statenients wore
prepared and sent by Richard 1o Trio on A4M lentezhead,

From 2 June 2008 until 3 March 2009 the EMvA Valuation Staicmnents sont 1o
Tric were on GCSL letterhead,

From 2 April 2009 umil = Gcenber 2009 the PM A Valuaiion Staements senl io
Triowere on EMA Jetierhead.

Erage
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1720 Atter 6 May 2008, Richard still prepared and approved the conten: of the EMA
Valuanon Statements knowing thar this information was then « going o be
provided o Trio.

175, Atall relevant tmes Richard was avvare or:

a. related pary dealings between the Flader Comtrolled Funds and Fiader
Vendor Compamzs:

b, the large fimancial exposure of the Flader Controlled Funds to Flader
Vendor Companies in respeet 1o the Non-equity Investments:

¢.  anamount of USSR173R0 that was received by Richard afier the
“xploration Fund had purchased shares in Yarraman. using monies seni
by ASF and Asatarra Supersnnuation Plai to the Exploration Fund on
Richard's recommendation or instruction:

d.  momes that were paid to AAM and Richard using ASF monies serii o
EMA:

€. the valuation methodology applied by GCSL Group when - caluing the
assets neld by the Flader Controlied Funds. and

b

the Exploration Fund's assets were not otherwise convertible o cash.

174, from at least 10 April 2007 onwards. being 12 months after ACAST Piy Lad
requesied the redemption ol the AC: AST Invesimeni referred o in paragraphs 87
and §3 above. Richard was aware that the EM A Valuation Statements were
materially misicading in that they materially over-inflared the true value of
ASF's Supplemental DPAS with EMA.

175, The EMA Valuation Statementis were hikel Iy 10 have the effeei of inducing Trio

t apply for. and acquire. further financial producis through Supplemental DP A<
with EMA, and Richard was aware of this.

SCHEDULED CHARGE ~ CIRCUMSTANCE '

In furtherance of the Scheme between 13 February 2006 and 3 Augusi 2009, Richard
In the course of carrying on a financial services business in h]H capacity as a divector
of AAM, which was at all relevant times the investment manager of ASE. made
matcrially misleading statements in a product disclosure statement for ASF and in
questionnaire responses relating o ASF, 16 the eficet that AAM:

(0)  applicd qualittive and quantienive analy sis 10 allecate assets w ASTs
mvestment portiolio:

(b sclected the underiying lnvestoent managers of funds inn esied i by ASE by
applving qualitative and quantitadve analysis, and

Fage 50 of &



¢y carried out due diligence and monitoring in respect to the investment managers
oi the underlyving funds invesied in by AST,

in circumstances where he was awaie that these statements were materialls
risleading. in that the processes outlined were net carried out by AAM. or i
performed. were deliberately manipulated to confirm a pre-determined selection or
decision. At the iimie that Richard made these statements he knew thai these
statements were tikely 1o induce Ausiralians w apply tor fimancial products. nameiy
units in ASF,

Relevant Backeround:

See paragraphs 12, 13. 23 10 54 and 146 10 151 above,

Relevant Facts:

176, On 15 February 20006. Trio 1ssued & Product Disclosure Statement ("PDS™) for
ASF (then called Alpha Strategic Fund). The PDS included statements te the
effcet that:

W AAM. an authorised representative of WG had been appointed as the
investment manager of the ASYE and acts as an agent of the ASF.

b.  AAM had consented to the references made to it in the PDS and aceepted
the accuracy of the stlatements made in the PDS about. and descriptions of.
the investiment management of the ASE.

< AAM determined ASF's compostiion and weightings and then allocated
asscts (under @ DPA arrangement) to the investment portfolio using both
quaittative and quantitative analysis.

d. AAM chose 1ts underlying investment fund managers by using both

gualitative and quantitaiive analysis, involving @ proprietary analviicat
muodel which included u detailed screening process and its own intermnal
rating svstem.

¢ Investment manager duc diligence. selecrion and monitoring were pari of
the proprietary madel that the AAM investment team used in advising
Ji) QF
e .

f. It considered appropriaic by ASE. a DPA was eniered into v AAM. as
agent of Trio. and EMA whenever an investment is made with an
investment manager i oftshore global markets.

77, The use of the PDN by e was nodificd by irio 1o ASIC on 17 February 2006
and this PDS remained it use and was provided to potentia! imvestors in A ST
unti! 37 August 20009,

178, The staiements outhimed 1 subparagvaphs 170 (¢ 16 (¢ above (the "AAM
Statements” ) were inicluded In the PDS with the approval of Richard.



180,

"
_—

182,

Statements o the same cffect as the A AM Statements wete also contained in
questionnare responses (the "Questionnaire Statements™) sent by Richard o
the Investment & Financial Services Association 11d. Aegis Lauities Rescarch
and {inancial planners.

The A4M Statements and Quesiionnaire Stateraents were all made by Richard
with the intention of inducing Australian investors to apply for units in ASF and
were likely o have this eftect

At all relevant times Richard was aware thai the AAM Statements mmd
Questionnaire Statements were materially misleading as Richard was aware that
AAM. in respecet te its dealings with ASE did not:

4 applv any quaiiiaive and quaniitsive analysis to allocate assets w ASF's
investment portfolio;

k. cheose underlying investment managers by applving any qualitative or
quaniiiative analyvsis involving @ proprictary analvtical mode! which
included @ detarled screeming process and its own iniemal rating svstemn,
or otherwise. or

¢ carry out any due diligence or monitoring of investment maragere.

and, 1if AAM did petform any of these asks. thev were deliberately manipuiaied
{0 continm a pre-deiermined selection or decision.

Furthermore. at all relevant fimes Richard wes aware that the named investiment
maragers of the Flader Controlied Funds had been selected based solely upon
thetr previous retationships with Flader and Richard. and upon their willingness
10 act under the mstructions of Flader

Darne
e

L W s



TAB 1

KEY ENTITIES
Frie Canital Litd
Iy Trie Capital Lad ("Trio"s was:

tal known as Astarra Capital Lid fromn 7 May 2004 until 3¢ Sepsember 2000

thi knewan as Tolburst Capital Ltd unti} 0 May 2004

tc)  the holder of a Registrable Superannuation Emity Licence:

(dy  the trustee of five siuperannuation entities:

te)  the holder of an Australian Financial Services Licerice since 1 Februar, 2004
("AFS Licence" )

(Fi the holder of & securitics dealers leence ivom 7 November 1997 until 1 Februan
2004 1. T

(¢)  the responsible entity for 25 managed investment schemes and 6 unregistered
managed schemes (collectively the "Trio Managed Funds"):

fhy  placed into voluatary administration on 16 Decemiber 2409, and

(1) putinte liquidation on Z2 june 20146

Astarrs Funds Managemenm Pry Ll

2} Astarra Funds Management Pry Ltd ("AFM") was:

1 known as Tolhurst Funds Management Piy 1td until 6 May 2004:

(m the immediate holding company of Trio:

{ct the provider of premises and staff 1o Trio:

id} a corporate authorised repiresentative of Trio:

(e wholly owned by Wright Global Asset Management Pty Lid ("WGAM") is now
wholhy owned by Bella Donna 1 td ("Bella Donna"}. a St Vincent company:

tt) placed mo voluntary administration on 16 December 2009, and

(z) put into hiquidation or 10 Junc 2030,

Wright Global Investments Pu 1id

31 Wrnght Global Investments Pty Led ("WGI") was:

ta) known as the World Financial Group Anstralia Pry Ltd until 16 March 2003
{bj the holder of ai AFS Licence sinee 18 February 2003, and
(¢) wholly owned by Astral Invesmients Ltd (" Astral™i. o Hong Kong company .

Astarra Strategic Fund
4y Asiarra Strategic Fund ("ASFT was

(4) aimanaged invesiment tund registered with ASIC on © September 2005

(b atiered pursuani o a pioduct disclosure statement (PDS") that was lodeed withs
ASIC and was daed 13 Februan Z000:

(¢) known a- Alpha Stratesic Fund unidl 2 June 2069:

(d) later offered pursvant 1o 4 PDS dated 31 Aususi 2004 ang Supplementar PHS
dated 28 Septemiver 2009 both of which weve Jodged with ASIC:

1o} one of the Trio Managed Foands for which Trie was the respemsible eutit

(fr vweund op by the Court on 14 March 2014,



51

0)

9

10)

The ASF invesied in these funds via agreements titled Master Defeired Purchase
Agrcement ("Master DPA"; and Supplemenial Deferied Perchase A grechent
("Supplemental DPA" .

The Master DPA was entered inio o 13 February 2006, The parties to s vaster
DPA were Astarra Asset Management Prv Lid. FMA International i.td and ANZ
Nominees Lid. The latier signing as cusiodian for Trio.

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Lid ("ANZ™ were named as the
custadian oi the ASF in the PDS dated 13 Februar 2006, ANZ aise sigied a custody
agreement with Trio on 26 June 2006

On 12 February 2009 ANZ was replaced as custodian of the ASF by National
Australia Trustees Lid.

A Deed dated 17 Februany 2000 1 amend the Master TIPA was signed by Astarra
Asset Management Pty 1.td and Trie but not EMA International 1id ¢ "Amending
DPA Deed™). The purpese of the Amending DPA Deed was to include Trio as o part:
to the Master DPA and remove ANZ Womunees Lid.

Fursuani to the Master DPA and Supplemental DPA’s. EMA International L1d
invested funds from Tric in the underlving funds at the instruction of Astarra Asset
Management Pty Ltd.

Astarra AssetManagemeni Pu fad

11

Astarra Asset Management Pr Lid (in Liguidation) (" AAM" ) was:

(a incorporated on 22 April 2005 for the purpose of acting as the investment
manager for many of the Trio Managed Funds:

(b} known as Absoluic Alpha Pty Lid umil & july 2006

(¢) an authorized represeniative of Trio from 24 June 2009

(d) an authorised representarive of WG from T June 2008 unil 4 January 2010,

i¢) an authorised representative of Selurions Wealth Stratcgics Prv Lid from 2}
February 2006 untii 15 August 2008:

(t} appomted the investment manager of the ASE under an investnent Management
Agreement with Tric dated 2 March 2007 and again under a new agreemeni dated
28 September 2009;

(&) wholly owned by Ceniury Investment Holdings Lid ("Century"), a Briiish Virgin
Islands ("BVI") company. and

(hy wound up on 22 December 2004,

Zetland Financial Group Ltd. a BV company hased in tong Kong, wes associared
with Pacific Contnental Sccurities L1d ( "Pacific Continental” J. a Delaware based
company banned hy the UK regulators for its cold calline activities in the Tk, Pacific
Continental had been selling stocks in high-rish US based start-up ventures. including
shares in US companies that had been restructured by the Zetland Financial Gronp Ltd
o its subsidianies (collectively called the "Zetland Group®).

Both Stawin Darrell Richard ("Richard” ) and Lucene Liu ("Liu" ). voere direciors oi
AAM. had been emplos ed by Pacific Continental in iis Asin-hased offices



14

Matthew Littauer ("Littaner™) had also been emploved by Pacilic Continenial before
becoming a director of Tric. WGl and WGOAM. Littaver was mardered in December
2004,

James Campbell Sutheriand ("Sutherland”) was the Chairman of the Zetland Crroup.

Juck W. Flader, Jr ("Flader” ) was & dircctor of companies within the Zetland Giroup.

in late 2005 WGANM purchased Tric using monies provided by a number of entities
including Zetand Corporaie Services Lid which was part of the Zetland Group.

1he GOSL Group of Compantes Lid, GCSI 1ad. Global Consuluaits and acrvices Lad, Globaj
Corporate Consultants ! 1d

16)

The GCSL Group of Companies Ltd and ils subsidiaries (collectively called the
"GCSL Group”) is in the business of cresting international corporate struciures and
has offices i Hong Kong. Anguills, Belize Cool. 1slands. Samoa. Shanghai and
Singapore. The GCSE Group provide a range of services including:

(1) the incorporation of companies in all those jurisdictions that it has offices as well
as Seychelles. BV] and Nevis:

(b) company secretarial services including the provision of a regisiered office.
company filings and maintaining company records:

(¢) fiduciary services invalving the provision of directors and nominee sharcholdors |
and

(d) admunistration services including the handling of bank accounts. brokerage
transactions. woneral bookkeeping and excouting agreements on behialf of clients.

Flader was the Chief Exceutive officer and Chairman of the GCSL. Group

EMA Imemuaiional Lid

20)

zh

i de Y

—}

24)

19)

EMA International Lid ("EMA") was;

) aspecial purpose vehicle incorporated in BVIL and

(b) established for the purpose of the ASF investing in underlving tunds offshors.
At alf relevani times Richard was in control of EMA
On @ February 2006. Marc Boudreau. a Canadian citizen. was anpuinted as solc
director of EMA and was the sole shareholder. Mr Boudreau is an associate of Richard
and at all imes acted under Richard's instructions in respect to EMEA,
On 1 June 2006 an agreement was entered inic between EMA and GOSL Ld for GOSL
Ltd 1o provide administration services to ENA. The agreenient was signed on behalf of
GCSL Lid by Flader. GOSL Lid terminated this asreament o6 5 November 20090

GOSL Lid is a subsidiary of the GCSL Group.,

Drespiie thie agreement of 1 June 2006, most o' the EMA's administration servicss,
including cusiodial services and the operation of EMA™ bank account. were provided



to EMA by Global Consultantz and Services Ltd ("GCOSL") (a different enany to GCS]
L1d but still part of the GCSL Greup,.

Fuploration Fund ! d

201 Exploration Fund Lid ("Exploration Fund") had;

(i

thi

(1)
Lg)

(h)

SE

(k)

been incorperated in St Lucia as a private muteal fund company on § October
2003 by the Zetland Group:

been known as the Strategic Oppoertunity Fund Ltd until 23 March 2004 when it
changed its namic 10 the Hunileigh Investment Fund Lid:

been known as the Huntleigh Invesiment Fund 1td until 2¢ January 2007 when it
changed its name to the Fxpleration Fund [ td:

offered 3 classes of shures 1o mvestors (AL B and Cr:

Frank Richard 8ell ("Bell”) as a dircctor from & Getober 2002 unil 20
September 2004 and again from 12 Jarmary 2005;

Carl Meerveld ("Meerveld”) as a divecior from 20 Septeinber 2004 unti] 20
January 2005;

Global Financial Managers Lid. o St Lucis company, numed as its investment
manager;

Zetlind Administration Ltd. a subsidiary of the Zetland Group. named 2s its
administrator from about | Decernber 2003 i 3 January 2006;

Professional Adminisiration Ltd. & St Lucie company. named as its adminisirator
between aboui 3 Januar 2006 to 23 March 2009 but alt adminisration work
was delegaied to the GCSL Group.

New Century Adminisiration Ltd, 2 St Lucia company , brcame its named
administraior. irom abomt 23 March 20090 bui all administration work was
delegated to the GCSL Greup. and

Lichter. Yu & Associates of Calitornia USA named as its accouniants.

SBS Dyvnamic QOpporfunities Fund 1id

211 SBS Dynamic Opportunities Fuad ("SBS Fund™) had:

ta)  Volun International L.td. a Liberian company as its sole sharchioider and
director:

(b)  Cheshire Asset Managenient Ltd. an Anguillan company . named - its
imvestment manager:

(¢} Hereford Administration Ltd. 2 Belize company, named as its administrator but
all admmistration work was delegated 1¢ the GCSL Group. and

(d)  abank account with Tinab Bank in the Cavinan Tslands

220 Richard did at times sign correspondency on behalf nf the SBS Fund.

Pacific Capial Multi-Arbitrazee Fund [id

i

231 Pacific Capital Mulii-Arbitrage Fund Lid ("Pacific Fund ). 2 fund domiciled in the

Cavman [zlands, that had:

{al

{b)

Ample Success nternaional Lid, o BV compans . as it sole sharsholder and
director;

Discrctionary investments |td. o Nevis company. named a4 it- investmunt
manages which i iy identitied Roman [yniuk ("] yaiuk"y as its hey
investment prodzssional:



(¢1 ZFR Administration Ltd. a Cook Lslands company. named as i< adminiswrator
but ali administration work was delegated 1o the GCSI Crroup:

{6)  a bank account with Finab Bank in the Ca:man Islands. and

fc)  the same regisiered address in tie Cavman Islands as the SBS Fund. namelv
Gengsis Building, 5rd Floor. . Kox 32338 SMB. Grand Cayman. Cavman
Islands.

Siervs Multi-Stratcey Fund Lid

24)  Sierra Multi-Strategy Fund ("Sierra Fund™). a fund domiciled in Anguilla. diat had:

{a}  Meerveld as ts sole direcior:

(hy  ECI Managers Ltd. an Anguillan company. named as its invesiment manager:

(¢)  Aerowest Administration Lid. ar Anguillan company. named as its administraton
hut al] adminisiration work was delegated to the GUSL Group:

td)  the same registered address in Anguilla s ECI Managers 1td and Cheshire Asset
Management Ltd. namely 201 Rogers Office Ruilding, Edwin Wallace Rey
Drive. Georee Hill. Anguilla.

KEY PERSONS:

Shawn Darrell Richard

257 Shawn Darrell Richard ("Richard” was:
{a) @ director of

(1 Tric from & November 2003 untl {7 November 2005
(i AFM trom 5 November 2003 until 24 April 2007:
(1) WGI from 12 Juby 2001 until i6 September 2009:
(1v) WGAM trom 17 Deeember 2009, and

(v) AAM from 22 April 2002;

(b} @ responsible person in respect 1o the AFS Licences held by

(1) WG] from 18 Februar 2002 and
11y Trie from 5 March 2004

(c) an authorized representative of Solutions Wealth Suategies Pov Ltd from 2| Febriary
2000 until 4 January 2010, and

tdr amember of.

(i) Trio's invesnent commitiee umil 2% November 2003 and was re-appoinied
on J0 December ZO0OR until 5 Augaost 2000, and

(i) AAM's Investment commitice at all relevant tines.

200 Atallrelevant dmes. Richard represenied that he was a director and ower of Rells
Donsia. Astral and Centery. Bella Donna being ihe ultimate holding company of Tri
and AFM. Asteal being the uitimate hoiding compaiy ¢ WO and Century being the
uttimate holding company »f AARL

2Ty Atali relevant imes Richurd was carrying on a financial services business i this
Jurisdiction within the wrms of « TG of the Corporadions dor Jik)



bach W Flader lor

28

a0,

3h

Plader was:

(i) an emplonee of the Zetland Group prier v establishing the GCSL Group:

(hi  adirector of the Hong Rong besed Zetland Administration Lid:

et the Cinef bxecutive officer and Chairman of the GCSL Group:

tdy  the primetpal of GCSL Lad. and

(£} adirector of AFM and WGAM from 16 December 2004 uniil § August 2003,
Flader was employed by the Zetland Group until 28 April 2006 when he jeft to set un
GTSL and the GCSL. Group which emplaved a number of persons who had formeriy
worked for the Zetland Group. The GCSL Group started operations on [ May 2006
and s hased in Hong kong.

Flader, through his control of the GCSL. Groun. also controlled a number of companies

incorporated in a variety of overseas jurisdictions including Cavman islands. Hong
Kong. Anguilla. Sclize. Cooll Islands and BV (the "Flader Controlled Companies™).

Frank Richard Bell

Il |
al1)

Frank Richard Bell ("Bell"y was:

al  sole director ol the Exploration Fund Ltd until Sentember 2004 when he was
replaced my Carl Meerveld ("Meerveld"

bi agan a dircctor of the Exploration Fuid Lid from January 2005
¢y permanentiy banned from associating with any North Amcrican Securities
Dealer ("NASD"y member finm in a principal capaciiv for securities law

breaches. and

dy e director of WGI trom dnly 2001 until Sepiember 2006,
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CHARGE 1 ~ s 1041G(1) CORPORATIONS ACT 2001

Shawn Darrell Richard between about 15 November 2005 and about 30 June 2009 at
Sydney in the state of New South Wales did in the course of carrying on a financial
services business engage in conduct in relation to a financiai service knowing that
conduct to be dishonest.

CHARGE 2 - s 1041G(1) CORPORATIONS ACT 2001

Shawr Darrell Richard betweer: about 8 October 2007 and about 30 September 2006 at
Sydney in the state of New South Wales did in the course of carrying or a financial
services business engage in conduct in relation to a financial service knowing that
conduct to be dishonest.

CHARGE 3 - s 1041E(1) CORPORATIONS ACT 2001
To be placed schedule in accordance with s16BA Crimes Act 1914 on arraignment

Shawn Darreli Richard petween about 15 February 2006 and 30 September 2009 at
Sydney in the state of New South Wales did make statements which were materially
misleading, and known by him to be materially misleading, that were likely to induce
persons in Australia to acquire financial products.



